
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

 
 
JOSHUA DUNN; CHERRY BAKER; EDWARD 
BRAGGS; TEDRICK BROOKS; GARY LEE 
BROYLES; QUANG BUI; RICHARD 
BUSINELLE; BOBBY COPELAND; HOWARD 
CARTER; CHANDLER CLEMENTS; ROBERT 
DILLARD;  CHRISTOPHER GILBERT; 
DWIGHT HAGOOD; DALETRICK HARDY; 
SYLVESTER HARTLEY; CHARLIE 
HENDERSON; CHRISTOPHER JACKSON; 
BRANDON JOHNSON; JOHN MANER; RICK 
MARTIN; WILLIE MCCLENDON; ROGER 
MCCOY; JERMAINE MITCHELL; KENNETH 
MONCRIEF; TOMMIE MOORE; MATTHEW 
MORK; ROGER MOSELEY; ZERRICK 
NAYLOR; BRADLEY PEARSON; LEVITICUS 
PRUITT; TURNER ROGERS; JONATHAN 
SANFORD; TIMOTHY SEARS; BRIAN 
SELLERS; AUGUSTUS SMITH; RICHARD 
TERRELL; HUBERT TOLLAR; DANIEL 
TOOLEY; JOSEPH TORRES; DONALD RAY 
TURNER; WILLIAM VILLAR; JAMIE 
WALLACE; ROBERT “MYNIASHA” 
WILLIAMS, on behalf of themselves and all 
others similarly situated; and ALABAMA 
DISABILITIES ADVOCACY PROGRAM,    
 
          Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
KIM THOMAS, in his official capacity as 
Commissioner of the Alabama Department of 
Corrections; RUTH NAGLICH, in her official 
capacity as Associate Commissioner of Health 
Services for the Alabama Department of 
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NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. The prisoner PLAINTIFFS and the Plaintiff Class are incarcerated in Alabama 

Department of Corrections (“ADOC”) prisons.  Plaintiffs bring this case to remedy (a) the 

defendants’ failure to provide constitutionally adequate medical care to persons in the custody of 

the ADOC; (b) the defendants’ failure to provide constitutionally adequate mental health care to 

persons in ADOC custody; (c) the defendants’ failure to provide due process when medicating 

persons against their will; and (d) the defendants’ failure to provide prisoners with disabilities 

with the accommodations and services to which they are entitled under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act and section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.  Plaintiffs seek declaratory 

and injunctive relief for the inhumane and discriminatory practices and conditions they face 

every day in ADOC custody. 

2. The prisoner PLAINTIFFS and all those in ADOC custody are entirely dependent 

on DEFENDANTS KIM THOMAS, RUTH NAGLICH and ADOC (collectively, 

“DEFENDANTS”) for medical and mental health care.  Yet the system of care provided by 

DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH is grossly inadequate and subjects all prisoners to a 

substantial risk of serious harm, including unnecessary pain, loss of function, injury and death.  

3. Because of the DEFENDANTS’ deliberate indifference to the obvious medical 

needs of the persons in their custody, plaintiff prisoners go for months or years without 

appropriate diagnoses of medical conditions.  Numerous prisoners have died from a failure to 

treat medical conditions from cancer to diabetes to hepatitis.  Others have required emergency 

surgery or lost the use of legs, arms or eyes, after having been left to suffer with untreated 

symptoms for lengthy periods. Prisoners with mental illnesses or serious psychological problems 

are entirely denied mental health care or provided only with medication with little or no 

medication management, follow-up, or concern for side effects, some of which are debilitating.  
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Mental health care other than medications is nearly non-existent. Prisoners with a history of self-

harm are provided with razor blades.  After one prisoner who had repeatedly requested mental 

health care cut himself with one of the razors, a correctional officer said to him, “If you die, you 

die.”  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH violate the prohibition on Cruel and Unusual 

Punishments in the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 

4. Prisoners, who do not want to take psychiatric medi
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7. PLAINTIFFS seek declaratory and injunctive relief to compel DEFENDANTS 

THOMAS and NAGLICH, both sued in their official capacity, and ADOC to provide 

constitutionally adequate medical and mental health care to all prisoner PLAINTIFFS and the 

class members they represent, to desist from medicating mentally ill prisoners against their will 

without due process, and to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act and § 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

JURISDICTION 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over the claims herein 
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cracked lens in his right eye.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have refused to treat 

PLAINTIFF DUNN’s right eye because his left eye is functional. DEFENDANTS THOMAS 

and NAGLICH have also failed to provide PLAINTIFF DUNN with appropriate medical care 

after he was stabbed multiple times by prisoners. PLAINTIFF DUNN is a person with a 
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and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF BRAGGS is being denied adequate medical and 

mental health care, and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

13. PLAINTIFF TEDRICK BROOKS entered ADOC’s custody in August 2011.  He 

is currently housed at Bibb County Correctional Facility (“Bibb”).  PLAINTIFF BROOKS has a 

very severe keloid condition that causes him significant pain and difficulty moving.  His 

condition has gone mostly untreated while in ADOC custody.  He has been forced to shave, 

although this makes his condition worse, and he has been punished for not shaving.  PLAINTIFF 

BROOKS is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 

705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF BROOKS is being denied adequate medical care and reasonable 

accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

14. PLAINTIFF GARY LEE BROYLES has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1989.  He is currently housed at Elmore Correctional Facility (“Elmore”). He was 

previously housed at Draper Correctional Facility (“Draper”), Kilby Correctional Facility 

(“Kilby”), St. Clair, and Bullock.  PLAINTIFF BROYLES is hearing impaired, requiring hearing 

aids for both ears.  He was provided with hearing aids for both ears in or around 1998, but one 

stopped working in or around 2011.  He has difficulty getting the battery replaced.  PLAINTIFF 

BROYLES is harassed and discriminated against on the basis of his hearing impairment. 

PLAINTIFF BROYLES is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 

U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF BROYLES is being denied reasonable 

accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 
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15. 
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with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and has had his right to refuse 

medication violated without due process. 

21. PLAINTIFF CHRISTOPHER GILBERT has been in the custody of 
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being denied adequate medical care and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

23. PLAINTIFF DALETRICK HARDY has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2002.  He is currently housed at St. Clair, and has previously been housed at Kilby, 

Draper, Bibb, Easterling, Fountain Correctional Facility (“Fountain”), Limestone, Bullock, and 

Donaldson.  PLAINTIFF HARDY is severely mentally ill and has a long history of suicide 

attempts.  He is not receiving any mental health treatment and has been in segregation at St. Clair 

since May 2012.  PLAINTIFF HARDY is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 

12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF HARDY is being denied adequate 

medical and mental health care, and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

24. PLAINTIFF SYLVESTER HARTLEY has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1981.  He is currently housed at St. Clair.  PLAINTIFF HARTLEY has a long 

history of serious mental illness, but does not know his diagnosis.  He is also on dialysis.  He 

likely has an undiagnosed learning or developmental disability.  PLAINTIFF HARTLEY is a 

person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). 
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PLAINTIFF JACKSON was previously on the mental health caseload and was taking Haldol.  

He was not given any medications for side effects, and in or around April 2014 asked to be taken 

off Haldol because it made him shake.  He has not received any mental health care since.  He has 

been in segregation since 2007.  He is transferred every few months between the segregation 

units at Holman, Donaldson and St. Clair.  PLAINTIFF JACKSON is a person with a disability 

as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF JACKSON is 

being denied adequate medical and mental health care, and reasonable accommodations for his 

disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973. 

27. PLAINTIFF BRANDON JOHNSON has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1996.  PLAINTIFF JOHNSON is currently housed in a Residential Treatment Unit 

at Donaldson.  PLAINTIFF JOHNSON has a significant cognitive disability.  He believes he was 

diagnosed with traumatic brain injury as a child, following a serious car accident.  He is not 

receiving any medication or other mental health treatment.  PLAINTIFF JOHNSON also has 

serious cognitive disabilities stemming from a serious injury when he was a child.  However, he 

is provided with no assistance in filling out medical forms or understanding rules or disciplinary 

matters.  PLAINTIFF JOHNSON is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 

and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF JOHNSON is being denied adequate mental 
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services and having necessary accommodations.  He injured himself again in April 2014 after 

choosing to access programs and services.  DEFENDANT ADOC has declined to treat him.  

PLAINTIFF MANER is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 

U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF MANER is being denied adequate medical care and 

reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and 

§504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

29. PLAINTIFF RICK MARTIN has been in the custody of DEFENDANT ADOC 

since 1988.  He is currently housed at St. Clair.  He has previously been housed at Kilby and 

Donaldson.  PLAINTIFF MARTIN has a long history of 
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§ 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF MCCOY is being denied adequate 

medical and mental health care, and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and has had his 

right to refuse medication violated without due process.  

32. PLAINTIFF JERMAINE MITCHELL has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1999.  He is currently housed at Hamilton A & I, and has also been housed at Bibb.  

PLAINTIFF MITCHELL uses a wheelchair and has limited use of his hands.  He spent a year 

and a half housed in an infirmary because of his disabilities.  Because he was housed in the 

infirmary, he was denied access to programs, benefits and services.  PLAINTIFF MITCHELL 

has been informed that he might be able to walk again if he received physical therapy, but he is 

not being given physical therapy.  PLAINTIFF MITCHELL is a person with a disability as 

defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF MITCHELL is 

being denied adequate medical care and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

33. PLAINTIFF KENNETH MONCRIEF has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2010, following a parole violation.  He is currently housed at Limestone and was 

previously housed in the Mental Health Unit at Bullock.  He has been diagnosed with paranoid 

schizophrenia, bi-polar disorder, anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder.  He was 

required to discontinue his psychiatric medications in order to go on parole, because his parole 

placement was a facility does not accept residents who take psychiatric medications.  Without 

mental health medication, PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF has difficulty controlling his impulses and 

anger.  He is not currently receiving any mental health treatment.  PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF is a 

person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). 
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PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF is being denied adequate mental health care and reasonable 

accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

34. PLAINTIFF TOMMIE MOORE has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2010.  He is housed at Kilby.  PLAINTIFF MOORE has glaucoma and is legally 

blind.  He has not been treated for his glaucoma and has been denied the surgery he requires 

because DEFENDANT ADOC refuses to pay for the procedure.  PLAINTIFF MOORE resides 

in a dormitory with high incidences of violence solely because his disability only makes him 

eligible for a dormitory of that classification level. Correctional officers have harassed and 

threatened PLAINTIFF MOORE due to his disability. PLAINTIFF MOORE is a person with a 

disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF 

MOORE is being denied adequate medical care and reasonable accommodations for his 

disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973. 

35. PLAINTIFF MATTHEW MORK has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 
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a car accident.  PLAINTIFF MOSELEY had four surgeries on each of his knees shortly after the 

accident, before entering ADOC custody.  He was confined to a wheelchair and had begun 

physical therapy in order to walk again. DEFENDANT ADOC has refused to provide 
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PLAINTIFF PEARSON is being denied reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under 

the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

39. PLAINTIFF LEVITICUS PRUITT has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2001.  He is currently housed at Holman.  He has previously been housed at Kilby.  

PLAINTIFF PRUITT has a history of depression.  Over the last six months, PLAINTIFF 

PRUITT has repeatedly been placed on suicide watch and has requested mental health treatment, 

but has been denied any mental health care.  He recently underwent an assault by other prisoners 

who threw burning items onto him while he was on suicide watch, but he was not taken to 

medical staff for more than a day after the assault, when he was taken to the hospital.  

PLAINTIFF PRUITT was also denied adequate medical treatment after he sustained an injury to 

his hand caused by correctional officers.  He was also denied medical treatment for four hours 

after he engaged in self-harm with a razor blade in his segregation cell.  PLAINTIFF PRUITT is 

a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). 

PLAINTIFF PRUITT is being denied adequate medical and mental health care, and reasonable 

accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

40. PLAINTIFF TURNER ROGERS has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since November 2012.  He currently resides at the Kilby.  PLAINTIFF ROGERS has 

cataracts and a spot in the white of his eye that p
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41. PLAINTIFF JONATHAN SANFORD has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2002.  Since his initial stay at Kilby, he has been housed at Bullock.  When he 

arrived at Bullock, he was housed in the mental health dormitory, until the Mental Health Unit 

was opened in 2006.  He was moved to the Mental Health Unit when it opened and has been 

their ever since.  PLAINTIFF SANFORD has been diagnosed with bi-polar disorder, 

schizophrenia, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).  PLAINTIFF SANFORD is 

given mental health medication, but receives little other mental health treatment.  PLAINTIFF 

SANFORD also suffers from a seizure disorder that is untreated and often unaccommodated.  

PLAINTIFF SANFORD is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 

U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF SANFORD is being denied adequate medical and 

mental health care and reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

42. PLAINTIFF TIMOTHY SEARS has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1996.  He is currently housed at Ventress and was previously housed at Hamilton A 

& I, St. Clair and Limestone.  PLAINTIFF SEARS has scoliosis and unexplained weight loss.  

Despite needing a shower with grab bars, PLAINTIFF SEARS was placed in a dormitory that 

was not accessible and was very far from the infirmary where he could shower.  PLAINTIFF 

SEARS has been and continues to be forced to stand for long periods although his disability 

makes that painful and difficult for him.  PLAINTIFF SEARS suffered extreme weight loss that 

went completely untreated for 10 months and is curr
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accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

43. PLAINTIFF BRIAN SELLERS has been in the custody of DEFENDANT ADOC 

since 2001. He is currently housed at St. Clair, but has also been housed at Donaldson, Holman, 

Ventress, Draper, Easterling and Kilby. He suffers from high blood pressure and heart disease, 

hepatitis C and has recently had surgery for kidney stones. PLAINTIFF SELLERS was taken off 

of his blood pressure medication, resulting in a heart attack. Also, DEFENDANTS THOMAS 

and NAGLICH delayed more than three years before approving a PLAINTIFFS SELLERS’s 

surgery for kidney stones.  Also, despite being pre-diabetic, and having recently passed out 

repeatedly, PLAINTIFF SELLERS is not receiving appropriate treatment.  PLAINTIFF 

SELLERS is being denied adequate medical care. 

44. PLAINTIFF AUGUSTUS SMITH has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 2007.  He is housed at Staton.  PLAINTIFF SMITH came into ADOC custody 

shortly after doctors gave him a catheter and colostomy bag in anticipation of surgery that was to 

happen within three months.  He has not had the surgery and continues to be required to use the 

catheter and colostomy bag.  He suffers from frequent infections from the catheter.  PLAINTIFF 

SMITH is being denied adequate medical care. 

45. PLAINTIFF RICHARD TERRELL has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1992.  He is currently housed at Bullock in the Mental Health Unit.  He has 

previously been housed at Kilby, Easterling, and Holman.  He has been in either the mental 

health dormitory at Bullock or the free-standing Mental Health Unit at Bullock since 1999.  

PLAINTIFF TERRELL has been diagnosed with bi-polar disorder, schizophrenia, depression 

and PTSD.  He has been given a shot of either Prolixin or Haldol every two weeks for the last 15 
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years.  He does not know currently which he is receiving or if he receives the same one every 

time.  He is also given Benadryl, but receives no other mental health treatment.  PLAINTIFF 

TERRELL has been assaulted and then denied medical attention.  He has also been denied dental 

care and is likely to lose his two upper front teeth as a result.  PLAINTIFF TERRELL likely has 

some form of learning disability or cognitive disability.  PLAINTIFF TERRELL is a person with 

a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B). PLAINTIFF 

TERRELL is being denied adequate medical and mental health care and reasonable 

accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and has had his right to refuse medication violated without due 

process. 

46. PLAINTIFF HUBERT TOLLAR has been in the custody of DEFENDANT 

ADOC since 1977. He is currently housed at St. Clair.  In response to an outbreak of tuberculosis 
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housed at Holman.  PLAINTIFF VILLAR suffered a stroke while incarcerated at Holman and 

has since been denied adequate medical care.  The failure to treat him in the years since his 

stroke has resulted in the paralysis and other effects from the stroke becoming permanent.  

Further, DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have failed to take the steps necessary to 

enable him to have cataract surgery and necessary dental work.  He has permanently lost the use 

of his left arm, hand and leg, and vision in his left eye, much of the control of his bowel and 

bladder, and two teeth.  His vision in his right eye is severely impaired by untreated cataracts. 

PLAINTIFF VILLAR is a person with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12102 and 29 

U.S.C. § 705(9)(A) and (B).  PLAINTIFF VILLAR is being denied adequate medical care and 

reasonable accommodations for his disabilities under the Americans with Disabilities Act and 

§504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

51. PLAINTIFF JAMIE WALLACE has been in DEFENDANT ADOC’s custody 

since 2010.  Prior to his conviction, PLAINTIFF WALLACE was initially found not to be 

competent to stand trial and spent a year at Taylor Hardin, Secure Medical Facility.  He is 

currently housed in Residential Treatment Unit at Donaldson and was previously housed in the 

Mental Health Unit at Bullock.  PLAINTIFF WALLACE has numerous physical birth defects 
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52. PLAINTIFF ROBERT “MYNIASHA” WILLIAMS 1 has been in the custody of 

DEFENDANT ADOC since November 2012.  She is housed 
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54. DEFENDANT KIM THOMAS is the Commissioner of the ADOC, and he is sued 

herein in his official capacity. As the Commissioner of the ADOC, DEFENDANT THOMAS is 

responsible for heading the Alabama Department of Corrections, for the independent direction, 

supervision and control of the Alabama Department of Corrections, and for approving and 

issuing administrative regulations and changes. Ala. Code. 1975 § 14-1-1.3. (2010). He is 

responsible for providing constitutional conditions of confinement in all facilities. At all times 

relevant hereto, he has acted under color of state law. 

55. DEFENDANT RUTH NAGLICH is the Associate Commissioner of Health 

Services for the ADOC.  DEFENDANT NAGLICH is sued in her official capacity. As Associate 

Commissioner, DEFENDANT NAGLICH is responsible for establishing, monitoring, and 

enforcing system-wide health care policies and practices. She is responsible for supervising the 

provision of adequate medical, mental health, and dental care for all prisoners within the custody 

of the department, including but not limited to tho



26 

 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

57. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have long underfunded medical and 

mental health care.  In 2011, DEFENDANT THOMAS recognized that Alabama pays less for 

health care than other prison systems.  The failings in the health care system are well 

documented.  For the years 2000 through 2011, Alabama prisons had among the highest 

mortality rates in the country, both generally and for illness-related deaths. 

58. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH track all deaths in custody, all trips to 

the emergency room, and all hospital admissions.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH 

require their medical and mental health care providers to give them monthly reports on a wide 

variety of metrics. 

59. During the process of soliciting bids for a comprehensive medical and mental 

health provider in the summer of 2012, DEFENDANT NAGLICH responded to numerous 

questions about the provision of care.  She was asked whether persons “in need of mental 

health/psychiatric services currently residing at Bibb CF, Easterling, CF, Fountain CF, and 

Birmingham WR be relocated?”   DEFENDANT NAGLICH responded that they would.  They 

have not been.  Easterling has 120 prisoners on psychiatric medications, including two on 

involuntary medication orders, and has no coverage by a psychiatrist or psychologist.  Fountain 

has 64 people on psychiatric medications and no coverage by any psychiatrist or psychologist.  

Bibb, which has 133 people classified as MH-1, 29 people classified as MH-2, and one person on 
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60. In 2009, DEFENDANT ADOC’s Annual Report admitted that “Almost none of 

[ADOC’s] facilities meet the federal Americans with Disabilities Act requirements.” 

61. Starting in or around July 2012, PLAINTIFFS’ counsel conducted site inspections 

of most major correctional facilities in ADOC.  PLAINTIFFS’ counsel provided feedback on 

many of the obstacles in the facilities for persons with disabilities.  DEFENDANT ADOC has 

not, to PLAINTIFFS’ counsel’s knowledge, resolved a
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63. Additionally, PLAINTIFFS’ counsel sent DEFENDANT THOMAS a letter on 

April 9, 2014 detailing the failures of medical and mental health care and the violations of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act and § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.  PLAINTIFFS’ 

counsel invited DEFENDANT THOMAS to enter into disc
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67. 



30 

 

A. DEFENDANTS Routinely And Systematically Fail To Provide 

Adequate Numbers Of Health Care Professionals. 
 

71. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of not 

providing adequate medical staff to address the serious medical needs of prisoners in ADOC 
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74. The extraordinary understaffing for medical services leads to a host of predictable 

problems with the delivery of medical care, including delays, failures to diagnose and treat, 

failures to follow-up, errors, and decisions not to treat seriously ill prisoners. 

B. DEFENDANTS Routinely Deny Medical Care To Prisoners With Serious Medical 
Conditions. 

 
75. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of denying 

medical care to prisoners with serious medical conditions, or providing such prisoners with care 
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2.  DEFENDANTS routinely deny care to plaintiffs and other prisoners, 
causing serious harm, pain and risk of harm to prisoners in ADOC custody. 

 
80. 
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was sent back to his dormitory with an icepack.  The following Monday, PLAINTIFF 

MCCLENDON was supposed to be seen by the doctor, but he was not put on the sick call list.  
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PLAINTIFF MORK’s arm.  PLAINTIFF MORK’s arm swelled up from this, but he received no 

medical care.  In late April 2014, the same thing happened again with his left arm.  The bone in 

his forearm became misshapen from the incident.  A nurse who passed by his cell during rounds 

said he should have an x-ray.  When he asked to be taken to medical to document any injuries 

from the incident, no x-ray was taken, and none has been taken since.  He does not know if the 

bone is broken. 

89. In the fall of 2013, PLAINTIFF HAGOOD fell ill.  He was having difficulty 

starting and stopping urinating and it burned when he urinated.  He went to see medical, and 

provided a urine sample.  The nurse looked at the sample and stated that it looked clear so 

nothing was wrong.  No tests were done.  For several days, he did not eat because he was too 

weak to get himself down the hall to the dining area.  One day, he threw up after eating some 

food another prisoner brought him.  He submitted a sick call slip.  He saw Dr. Sangeeta Doshi 

three days later.  He told Dr. Doshi about the vomiting, the weakness and the difficulty urinating.  

Dr. Doshi did not examine him but told him that nothing was wrong with him and sent him back 

to his dorm.  He continued throwing up that evening.  That night PLAINTIFF HAGOOD had to 

be sent to the emergency room at Jackson Hospital.  He was diagnosed with a kidney infection, 

and kept at the hospital for two days.  He has had no follow-up care for the kidney infection 

since he returned to the prison.  Since he came out of the hospital, he has been unable to stand.  

He told Dr. Doshi of this development, but was never examined to determine the cause of the 

additional weakness.                                                              

90. On one occasion in the last four years, PLAINTIFF TERRELL was hearing 

voices and he grew loud responding to them.  A correctional officer beat PLAINTIFF 

TERRELL, breaking his jaw and his rib, then put him into segregation.  PLAINTIFF TERRELL 
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was not given any medical attention at the time.  Six months later, because he was in pain, he 

was seen in medical and given x-rays, at which point the broken bones were diagnosed. 

91. In spring 2014, PLAINTIFF TERRELL tried to change the channel of a television 

in the dormitory.  A correctional officer told him not to, grabbed him and spit in his face.  

PLAINTIFF TERRELL tried to get away, and the officer called for back-up.  The officers then 

beat PLAINTIFF TERRELL, at least one of them using a baton.  He was taken to medical, where 

a wound on his head was taped up.  He was then sent to segregation for about six weeks.  While 
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94. PLAINTIFF VILLAR suffered a stroke on December 6, 2010 while in his cell at 

Holman.  Because he was unable to stand and reach the door of his cell, he was unable to obtain 
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PLAINTIFF BROOKS’s chest, waist, and back prevent from him from stretching.  As a result, 

he often experiences pain in his chest and feels like his chest is caving inwards. PLAINTIFF 

BROOKS receives pain medication sometimes, but not consistently.  Medical staff refuse to 

provide PLAINTIFF BROOKS with anything for the itching caused by the keloids, and refused 

his request to bathe in the tub in the facility’s infirmary to avoid the pain caused by water hitting 

the keloids in dormitory showers. PLAINTIFF BROOKS is unable to wash between the keloids 

on his back.  As a result, he relies on prisoners who are willing to clean between the keloids on 

his back with a cotton swab. When PLAINTIFF BROOKS is unable to clean between the 

keloids, an odor develops that intensifies in warm temperatures. 

103. PLAINTIFF BROOKS has requested surgery to remove the keloids 

approximately five times between October 2011 and April 2013.  His requests were denied.  

Medical staff informed PLAINTIFF BROOKS in December 2013 that he has been approved for 

a surgery to remove the keloids.  He did not have the treatment.  In or around March or April 

2014, PLAINTIFF BROOKS was finally sent to a dermatologist who informed him that the 

keloids had grown so big that they could only be removed through radiation treatment.  The 

dermatologist also prescribed a medicinal soap, but medical staff failed to provide the soap to 

PLAINTIFF BROOKS. 
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took him to the infirmary to get him treated.  He was given a cream, medicated soap and gauze to 

protect the wound, and the wound eventually healed. 

105. PLAINTIFF BRAGGS has a grapefruit-sized hernia. The prison doctor has told 
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the state would not pay for glaucoma surgery because it did not have the money.  His last 

appointment with the eye doctor was in the summer of 2013.  In or around February 2014, 

PLAINTIFF MOORE spoke with the Director of the Pardons and Parole Board who also told 

him there was inadequate money to pay for his surgery. 

112. PLAINTIFF ROGERS has not been able to see out of his left eye since 2012.  He 

believes the problem is cataracts.  Also, the white of his eye is swollen and droopy, blocking his 

vision.  He had cataract surgery on his right eye about eight years ago, but his right eye now has 

double vision.  He has been given glasses, but they do not help with his eyesight at all.  He has 

received no other treatment for his eyesight. 

113. Larry Shepherd, then a prisoner in the custody of DEFENDANT ADOC, 

developed cataracts in both eyes in or around April 2011.  He was unable to read any of the 

letters on the eye chart by June 2011.  He was sent out to see an ophthalmologist in November 

2011.  The ophthalmologist prescribed that he undergo surgery on the cataracts in both eyes 

“ASAP.”  As of November 2012, he had not had the surgery.  He was released on medical 

furlough at that time, and was able to have surgery on his right eye in February 2013.   

4.  DEFENDANTS do not treat hepatitis C.     

114. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of not 

treating hepatitis C.  According to a report provided to DEFENDANTS THOMAS and 

NAGLICH, in April 2014, 2,280 prisoners in the custody of DEFENDANT ADOC had been 

diagnosed with hepatitis C, but just seven of them were receiving treatment. 

115. The failure to treat prisoners for hepatitis C creates a significant risk of serious 

harm.  One prisoner at Holman recently died from complications from untreated hepatitis C.   
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guessed where to place the catheter.  It was significantly more painful than when the procedure 

was done in the hospital. 

119. PLAINTIFF HENDERSON has made several requests for hepatitis C treatment, 

including on June 29 and July 9, 2014, but has been denied. In 2007, facility medical staff at 

Bullock told PLAINTIFF HENDERSON that he did not qualify for the hepatitis C treatment 

because he had a short time left on his sentence. In 2013, medical personnel at Kilby erroneously 

told PLAINTIFF HENDERSON that all of the possible treatments for the hepatitis C would 

harm his liver. In 2014, medical personnel refused to provide PLAINTIFF HENDERSON 

treatment for hepatitis C due to his liver condition. 

120. While residing at Limestone in 2008, PLAINTIFF HENDERSON learned that the 

lack of treatment for hepatitis C has led to high levels of ammonia in his brain, causing him to 

experience confusion, memory loss, and cognitive difficulty.  The medication that 

DEFENDANTS THOMAS AND NAGLICH offered PLAINTIFF HENDERSON to treat the 

high ammonia levels causes severe diarrhea.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS AND NAGLICH have 

not offered PLAINTIFF HENDERSON treatment to offset the effects of the diarrhea nor an 

alternate medication that does not have this side effect.   

5.  DEFENDANTS deny prisoners treatment for diabetes. 

121. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of not 

providing adequate care for diabetes in a number of different ways. 

122. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of not 

providing appropriate nutrition and medicine to control diabetes.  For example, PLAINTIFF 

GILBERT’s diabetes has not been well-controlled since he has been in ADOC custody.  Since he 

has been at Kilby, his blood sugar level in the early mornings is typically around 300 or 400 
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milligrams per deciliter (mg/dL); the target level before eating is 70-130 mg/dL.  At other points 

in the day, he feels his blood sugar level dropping, and he gets shaky and breaks out into a sweat.  

He has passed out from low blood sugar between 15 and 20 times in the two years he has been in 

ADOC custody.  When he first came to Kilby, snacks were provided to diabetics to keep with 

them so they could be eaten when needed.  Now, diabetics are called to the cafeteria at some 

point in the evening for snacks. The snacks must be eaten at the time they are offered, rather than 

when they are needed.  Prior to coming to ADOC, he was on a long-acting, 24-hour insulin that 

controlled his diabetes better.  He has asked if he can be put back on the 24-hour insulin, but was 

told by a doctor that he cannot because it is too expensive. 

123. At Kilby, several times each week, someone has a sufficiently serious diabetic 

crisis that they must be carried to the infirmary.  

124. In approximately 2004, PLAINTIFF BRAGGS’s right leg was amputated at the 

knee due to lack of medical treatment while in prison. Prior to losing his leg, PLAINTIFF 

BRAGGS, who has diabetes, complained of numbness and tingling in his foot to prison medical 

staff for approximately three weeks. Prison medical staff told PLAINTIFF BRAGGS he had 

athlete’s foot.  PLAINTIFF BRAGGS is currently experiencing similar problems with his left 

foot.  Medical staff at Hamilton A & I have provided PLAINTIFF BRAGGS with a prescription 

for the foot numbness, but have not addressed the reason his foot is numb and tingling.  

PLAINTIFF BRAGGS does not know the name of the medicine he has been given for the 

numbness. When he asked about possible side effects
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125. PLAINTIFF BROYLES also has diabetes that is not well controlled.  While he 

was at Bullock, he collapsed four times from having low blood sugar. On one occasion, he was 

in his bed, fell out, and hurt his head.  His sugar blood sugar level was 40 mg/dL.  He was 

transferred to Elmore in January 2014, and has also collapsed there from low blood sugar.  

126. PLAINTIFF COPELAND has poorly controlled diabetes as well.  His blood sugar 

levels are generally between 150 and 350 mg/dL.  On one occasion, when his blood sugar level 

was toward the low end of the target range, 79 mg/dL, a nurse tried to give him insulin anyway.  

This would have brought his blood sugar level down, likely to a dangerously low level.  

127. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of not 

having diabetic prisoners’ toenails clipped for them.  PLAINTIFF HAGOOD, who is diabetic 

and paralyzed on one side of his body from a stroke, asked to have his toenails clipped.  Clipping 

his own toenails is dangerous because he can easily give himself a small cut that, because he is 

diabetic, creates a risk of infection and amputation.  The nurses laughed and told him that they 

were not in the prison to clip his toenails.     

128. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of denying 

diabetic prisoners appropriate foot care.  PLAINTIFF ROGERS has not seen a podiatrist since he 
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but outside medical staff instructed her to have annual check-ups to monitor the lump. Despite 

informing facility medical staff, she has not received any follow-up care necessary to confirm 

that the lump has not grown or become malignant.  

140. In April 2014, a prisoner at St. Clair had an infection in his left foot that went 

untreated for long enough that his foot became gangrenous and had to be amputated. Also in 

April 2014, a prisoner at Bibb had an infection in his right foot that went untreated for long 

enough that the front portion of his foot had to be amputated.   

141. Starting in the summer of 2010, PLAINTIFF SELLERS began to experience pain 

in his lower back and difficulty urinating, and occasionally saw blood in his urine.  He told 
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He asked to be admitted to the infirmary at St. Clair.  In the infirmary, he was left in a storage 
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146. As discussed above, in January 2014, a prisoner who was injected with something 

incorrectly during dialysis at St. Clair went into cardiac arrest.  Although there was a crash cart 

in the dialysis unit, no one present knew how to us
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for a sick call slip, they stated they did not have one.  When out of his cell for unrelated reasons, 

he has secured three sick call slips and submitted them.  Each time he submits one, his blood 

pressure and temperature are checked, but there is no examination relating to his having passed 

out several times.  On one occasion, he was in the infirmary and asked specifically to have his 

blood sugar level tested.  The level was tested, but he has not been informed of the results. 

E. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH Fail to Adequately  Provide and 
Manage Medications and Medical Supplies and Devices. 

 
149. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and pra
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153. PLAINTIFF BROOKS had a prescription for pain medication for his keloid 

condition.  He had had the prescription for approximately two years.  In February 2014, the 

prescription was discontinued.  He had not had any discussion with the doctor about 

discontinuing the medication.  He only learned of the medication being discontinued when he 

went to get it at pill call.   

154. Additionally, nearly all prisoners interviewed reported that they did not give 

informed consent to medications.  They were not informed of the purpose, risks, side effects and 

benefits of the medications prescribed to them.  

155. On two occasions, PLAINTIFF DILLARD has been given the wrong medicine.  

On one occasion, he was given the wrong medicine during evening pill call.  He went back to his 

bed and lay down.  He got up about an hour later, and was unable to talk or walk.  Other 

prisoners called for correctional officers, and he was escorted to the infirmary where he was 

given a shot and then brought back to his dormitory and put to bed, where he slept off the 

medication.  On another occasion, PLAINTIFF DILLARD was given the wrong medication by 

the nurse.  He saw that he had the wrong medication and told the nurse.  The nurse told him that 

the doctor had changed his medication.  He said that he would not take the medication because it 

was not his.  The nurse then gave him the medication he had previously been taking.   

156. PLAINTIFF DILJ
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157. PLAINTIFF BAKER takes several medications for heart
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diagnosed with active TB.  Medical staff at St. Clair have determined that a man who was 

diagnosed in February 2014 had likely been infectious for a year.  One of the men diagnosed 

with TB worked in the kitchen until the day he was diagnosed.  Many prisoners at St. Clair did 

not have a TB test done during their physicals in 2013.   

164. A correctional officer who was known by DEFENDANTS THOMAS and 

NAGLICH to have active TB was allowed to continue working at Tutwiler during September 

2013.  He was stationed in places in the facility where it was deemed that he would have limited 

contact with prisoners and other employees and contractors of ADOC, but he was allowed to 

continue working until he was physically unable to do so.   

165. 
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only that in the event of a cardiac arrest, cardiopulmonary resuscitation not be initiated. 

Nonetheless, DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH rely on DNRs to deny medical care to 

prisoners. 

174. At Staton in May 2014, there were five individuals who were on a list of persons 

who had DNRs who did not know that they were thought to have DNRs.  One of these 

individuals was PLAINTIFF COPELAND.  PLAINTIFF COPELAND is blind.  No one spoke to 

him about signing a DNR or ever told him that a document he was being asked to sign was a 

DNR.  Another prisoner who has been listed as having a DNR is Michael Kennedy.  Kennedy 

has end-stage liver failure from untreated hepatitis C.  In early 2014, Kennedy learned from a 

doctor at Staton that Dr. Bobby Crocker, the Corizon Regional Medical Director for the state, 

had placed a DNR order in his file, although Kennedy had not agreed to it.  Kennedy asked to 

have it removed from his file.  As of May 2014, Kennedy remained on the list of individuals who 

are considered to have DNRs. 

175. At Staton, prisoner Roy Heath resides in the facility’s infirmary due to his health. 

He did not sign a DNR. In June 2014, he learned that he has a DNR in his medical file despite 

not having signed one. PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS has COPD.  He experiences extreme shortness 

of breath and low oxygen levels, and has periodic COPD crises that require him to be admitted to 

the infirmary. Prior to late spring or early summer 2013, medical staff gave PLAINTIFF 

CLEMENTS a shot of Sodium Metrizoate every six to eight hours whenever he had a COPD 

crisis, along with a breathing treatment, oxygen, and several inhalers during an COPD crisis.  In 

or around late spring or early summer 2013, PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS was admitted to the 

infirmary due to an exacerbation of the COPD.  Several days into his stay in the infirmary, Dr. 

Crocker asked to see PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS, requiring PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS to 
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temporarily stop using oxygen to meet with Dr. Crocker. Dr. Crocker asked Clements if had 

considered how he would feel to be on life support if he had a heart attack or was in a coma and 

told Clements that if he signed a DNR, he could avoid that fate. Having difficulty breathing 

because he was not using an oxygen mask and believing that the DNR only pertained to life-

saving measures in the event of a heart attack or coma, PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS signed the 

DNR. 

176. In or around August 2013, PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS experienced another bout of 

extreme breathing difficulty and again went into the infirmary. His oxygen level was 80. During 

his 30 day stay in the infirmary, medical staff gave PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS only one shot of 

Sodium Metrizoate. Despite PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS’s condition, medical staff did not arrange 

for his transport to a hospital. 

177. PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS returned to the infirmary again in or around February 

2014 experiencing difficulty in breathing. His oxygen level was 92. As he lay in the infirmary, 

PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS asked the nurse to provide him with some effective treatment. The 

nurse responded that if he had not signed the DNR, medical staff could do something to help 

him. It was at that point that he learned that medical staff was refraining from treating his chronic 

condition due to the DNR.  Although the DNR is rescindable merely by the prisoner stating that 

he wants it rescinded, medical staff did not explain this to PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS.  Because 

he did not know that he could rescind the DNR, PLAINTIFF CLEMENTS requested that 

medical staff give him pain medication and put him in a closed room in the infirmary to die. 

Facility physician Mendez ultimately gave Clements several shots of Sodium Metrizoate and 

antibiotics.  
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178. At Kilby, prisoner Larry Shepherd signed a DNR in April 2012 without knowing 

what he had signed.  Shepherd was blind from untreated cataracts and no one told him about the 

document he was signing.  When he learned that he had signed a DNR, he asked to have it 

rescinded.  DEFENDANTS did not rescind it.  To the contrary, DEFENDANTS relied on it in 

their response to the lawsuit Shepherd had filed seeking to have cataract surgery.  

179. An Incident Report from Hamilton A & I reflects that on September 9, 2009, a  
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183. In December 2013, PLAINTIFF PRUITT was on suicide watch.  At 

approximately 3:00 a.m. on December 13, 2013, another prisoner threw burning fabric into 

PLAINTIFF PRUITT’s cell and the other suicide watch cell, burning PLAINTIFF PRUITT’s 

legs.  Prisoners on the second floor of the unit where the suicide watch cells are located also 

threw burning items into the cell.  The correctional officers came and put out the fires, but failed 

to do anything to stop this assault.  The assault continued for approximately three hours.  When 

PLAINTIFF PRUITT asked to go to see the medical staff, the correctional officers refused, 

dismissing his injuries as “minute” and “nothing.”  He was not taken to see medical staff until 

the morning of December 14, 2013.  

184. Starting on December 14 or 15, 2013, prisoners started throwing disinfectant onto 

PLAINTIFF PRUITT.  Some of the disinfectant went into his eyes.  Correctional officers did not 

take him to get medical attention until the following day.   

185. On June 12, 2014, PLAINTIFF PRUITT was in segregation.  He had been asking 

for mental health care for months.  He cut himself with a razor on both arms.  When he informed 

the corrections officer that he was bleeding, the officer ignored him and left him in the cell for 

approximately four to five hours before taking him to the nurse.    

186. In March 2014, PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS was in segregation at Fountain.  She 

had an infection from a wound that had not been properly treated by the medical staff.  After she 

had returned to the infirmary and gotten the infected wound properly cleaned and dressed, 

medical staff told her she should return to the infirmary twice a day to have it re-dressed.  
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187. Corrections officers are often present before or during medical examinations.  

They sometimes make comments during the examinations suggesting or stating that the prisoner 

is lying to the medical professional.  PLAINTIFFS ROGERS, BRAGGS and PRUITT have 

experienced correctional officers interfering in their discussions with medical staff.   

II. DEFENDANTS FAIL TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE MENTAL HEAL TH CARE TO 
PRISONERS. 

 
188. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH fail to provide constitutionally 

adequate mental health care in a number of ways. Their mental health care delivery system is 

severely understaffed, and lacks adequate personnel with sufficient expertise to properly treat the 

individuals within its care.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH fail to identify, treat and 

medicate individuals with mental illness.  Additionally, these systematic failures rise to the level 

of causing significant injuries and the unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain.  Each of these 

deficiencies, in isolation and in conjunction, result in a violation of the Eighth Amendment. 

189. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH recognize that they must “[p]rovide 

clinically effective mental health services.”  ALA . ADMIN . CODE. r. 600 (2005).  DEFENDANTS 

THOMAS and NAGLICH are aware that provision of mental health care includes providing 

“various levels of care to include a full range of 
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are receiving treatment for serious mental illness must be promptly evaluated when placed in 

segregation.  Id. r. 625 (2004). 

190. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have long been aware that the staffing 

of mental health professionals is inadequate.  While DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH 

have chosen to contract with an outside entity to p
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195. As of April 2014, more than 16,000 prisoners were housed in facilities that have 

no assigned psychiatrist.  Considering only those individuals on the mental health caseload, 

1,474 prisoners resided in a facility with no psychiatric staffing.   

196. As of April 2014, Easterling had 194 people on the mental health caseload.  Of 

the 194, 120 prisoners are on psychiatric medications, including two on involuntary medication 

orders.  Easterling had no psychiatrist.   

197. As of April 2014, Fountain had 106 people on the mental health caseload.  Of the 
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203. As of April 2014, Ventress had 200 people on the mental health caseload.  Of 

these, 139 were on psychiatric medications, including two people on involuntary medication 

orders.  Ventress had no psychiatrist.  

204. As of April 2014, there was only one work release center that had any psychiatric 

coverage at all.  Altogether, the other work release centers housed 113 people on the mental 

health caseload, of whom 75 were on psychiatric medications. 

205. At other facilities, the level of psychiatric staffing was so low as to be clearly 

insufficient. As of April 2014, Bibb had 161 people on the mental health caseload.  Of these, 116 

people were on psychiatric medications, including one person on an involuntary medication 

order.  Bibb had less than a quarter-time psychiatrist.   

206. As of April 2014, Hamilton A & I had 79 people on the mental health caseload, as 

well as seven people not on the mental health caseload despite having DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses.  

A total of 73 people were on psychiatric medications.  Hamilton A & I had six hours per week of 

psychiatrist coverage. 

207. The facilities that are designated to house the most seriously mentally ill prisoners 

in ADOC custody also have very little psychiatric coverage. 

208. Bullock maintains a Residential Treatment Unit (“RTU”), a unit designated for 

inpatient treatment of mentally ill prisoners. Bullock also maintains an Intensive Stabilization 

Unit (“SU”) for the most acutely mentally ill people in ADOC custody.  As of April 2014, there 

were 161 people housed in the RTU.  Of these, 148 were prescribed psychiatric medications, 

including 24 on involuntary medication orders.  There were 11 people housed in the SU.  Of 

these, eight were prescribed psychiatric medications, including two on involuntary medication 

orders.  There were an additional 284 people on the mental health caseload in the general 
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population, of whom 201 were prescribed psychiatric medications, including five on involuntary 

medication orders.  Bullock had one full-time and one half-time psychiatrist. 

209. Donaldson maintains two RTUs.  As of April 2014, Donaldson had 71 prisoners 

housed in the RTUs.  In the RTUs, 60 people were prescribed psychiatric medications, including 
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214. When ADOC issued its request for proposals for a mental health services contract 

in 2013, it identified the minimum staffing need from the provider to be 144.95 full-time 

equivalent employees.  Under the current contract, MHM Correctional Services (“MHM”) is not 

providing even this inadequate number of mental health staff.  The staffing provided under the 

new MHM contract is just 126.5 full-time equivalent employees.   

215. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH require MHM to provide reports of 

their staffing and provision of care every month.  In the month of April 2014, these reports 

showed that MHM had fewer than 120 full-time equivalent employees providing mental health 

related services.  Of 2,738 prisoners on the outpatient mental health caseload, just 258 were 

scheduled to participate in any mental health group during the month.   

A. DEFENDANTS Fail To Identify Mentally Ill Prisone rs And Understate The 
Acuity Of Mental Illness Even In Those Identified. 

 
216. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy and practice of under-

identifying mentally ill prisoners and understating the acuity of prisoners’ mental illness.  As a 

result, mentally ill prisoners go untreated and severely mentally ill prisoners receive a far lower 

level of treatment than they need. 

217. Just 12.3 percent of the ADOC population is identified as having a mental health 

code of MH-1 or greater.  This almost certainly indicates that Alabama is not identifying 

prisoners with mental health disorders.  In a 2006 study of prison and jail prisoners throughout 

the country, the Department of Justice concluded that on average, about half of prisoners in state 

correctional facilities meet the DSM-IV criteria for a mental illness.  

218. Further, many prisoners who are clearly suffering from a mental health disorder 

or psychological distress go untreated.  For example, PLAINTIFF PRUITT was been placed in 

suicide watch three times from December 2013 through March 2014.  On one occasion, he was 
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on suicide watch for approximately 10 days.  He has previously been treated for depression.  He 

asked for mental health treatment several times since December 2013.  PLAINTIFFS’ counsel 

informed DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH of PLAINTIFF PRUITT’s urgent need for 

mental health care on May 16, 2014.  PLAINTIFF PRUITT has not been given any treatment or 

placed on the mental health caseload. 

219. Similarly, PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS engaged in self-harm repeatedly in March 

2014.  On one occasion, she continued to cut herself with a razor blade she found in the suicide 

watch cell.  After her third act of self-harm in a day, she was threatened with forcible medication.  

Yet, two weeks later, she asked to be placed on the
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223. PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF has been diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia, bi-

polar disorder, anxiety disorder and major depressive disorder. He was taken off all medications 

and the mental health caseload.  He was told that mental health staff believed he was “faking it.” 

224. Further, DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH informed PLAINTIFFS’ 

counsel that they are aware of 30 prisoners who have diagnosed DSM-IV Axis I clinical 

disorders who are not on the mental health caseload.  Of the 30, 23 are housed at the Elmore, 

Staton and Draper, complex, facilities that do not have a psychologist or psychiatrist on staff.   

225. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH also dramatically understate the level 

of acuity of those who are mentally ill.  According to ADOC mental health codes, MH-1 and 

MH-2 are used for prisoners with “mild impairment in mental functioning, such as depressed 

mood or insomnia,” MH-3 is for moderate impairments “such as difficulty in social situations 

and/or poor behavior control,” MH-4 is for severe impairments “such as suicidal ideation and/or 

poor reality testing,” MH-5 is used for severe impairments “such as delusions, hallucinations, or 

inability to function in most areas of daily living.”  MH-6, the code for the most acutely mentally 

ill, is reserved for prisoners who have been committed to a mental hospital.  As of April 2014, 

just 242 prisoners in ADOC custody – less than 1 percent – were classified at greater than MH-2.  

In contrast, the Department of Justice study cited above found that nationally some 43 percent of 

state prisoners met the DSM-IV criteria for mania and 15 percent met the criteria for psychotic 

disorders.   

226. Numerous prisoners who clearly meet the criteria for MH-3 or above are 

classified as MH-1 or MH-2.   
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has a prescription for three other medications.  He does not know the name of any of these 

medications or the potential side effects.  

238. PLAINTIFF MCCOY receives a shot once a week by medical staff and 

sometimes receives additional shots against his will throughout the week.  He knows he has 

taken Prolixin in the past, but does not know the name or purpose of the medication in the 

weekly shots or the other shots he receives currently.  He knows that they sometimes make him 

nauseous and make his arm hurt, but otherwise does not know the potential side effects. 

239. PLAINTIFF TERRELL does not know what medication he is taking.  He thinks it 

is either Prolixin or Haldol.  PLAINTIFF TERRELL does not recall receiving individualized 

information about the medications he is taking or g
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243. Some prisoners take medications for years, and are then taken off the medications, 

and often the mental health caseload, despite still needing treatment.  These include prisoners 

who continue to exhibit suicidal thoughts and actions.  Despite continued self-injurious actions 

these prisoners who have been improperly removed from the caseload and been denied needed 

medication are not even returned to the caseload and their medications reinstated after numerous 

suicide attempts.  For example, PLAINTIFF CARTER was prescribed Prolixin and Haldol for 

years. His mental illness is sufficiently severe that he has been placed at the residential Mental 

Health Unit at Bullock and Kilby on more than five occasions throughout the period of his 

incarceration, and from 2011 until 2012 he had a forced medication order. In October 2013, all 

medications were abruptly discontinued and he believes he is no longer on the mental health 

caseload.   

244. 
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246. PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF, who has long been treated for depression, was taken 

off Prozac and Trazadone.  He has asked to have medications for his depression since, but has 

been refused.  

247. PLAINTIFF WALLACE was taking several psychiatric medications, including 

lithium.  In 2012, the lithium was discontinued without explanation. 

248. Other prisoners simply do not receive medication for their mental health needs.  

For example, PLAINTIFF HARTLEY has trouble sleeping.  In late May 2014, he believes he 

went for at least eight days without sleeping.  He receives no medication to help him sleep.  

Also, as stated above, there are 30 people DEFENDANT ADOC has identified as not being on 

the mental health caseload who have Axis I diagnoses.  

249. There is little regard for side effects of psychiatric medications.  DEFENDANTS 

THOMAS and NAGLICH are aware that one of the potentially life-threatening side effects of 

many psychiatric medications is that they make patients more sensitive to heat and more 

vulnerable to heat-related illnesses, such as heat stroke.  Yet, prisoners on psychotropic 

medications that increase heat sensitivity are exposed to levels of heat that pose potentially lethal 

risks.  Other than the RTUs and SUs, the ADOC facilities which routinely house prisoners taking 

psychotropic medications are not air conditioned and the ambient air temperatures in the 

facilities during the summer frequently exceed 85 degrees.  

250. PLAINTIFF DILLARD takes Haldol, Risperdol and Cogentin, all medications 

that increase sensitivity to heat.  PLAINTIFF DILLARD is in a mental health dormitory, but not 

the RTU, at Bullock.  There are many other people in the dormitory who are on psychiatric 
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medication nor a different psychiatric medication t
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259. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH also maintain specialized units for the 

most acutely mentally ill within its control at Bullock and Tutwiler, labeled as the “Intensive 

Stabilization Units” (SU) with a total capacity of 38.  The April 2014 report to DEFENDANTS 

THOMAS and NAGLICH indicates that as of the end of the month, there were 11 men in the SU 
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experiences auditory and visual hallucinations.  He has great difficulty placing events in relation 

to each other in time.  He sleeps most of the time, sometimes for a day and a half at a time.  In 

addition to taking medication, he sees a counselor for about five minutes every two weeks and a 

psychiatrist for about five minutes once a month.  He receives no other mental health treatment.  

He has not been permitted to participate in any programming for several years.   

262. 
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265. Part of PLAINTIFF BUSINELLE’s mental illness is that he gets angry and has 

difficulty controlling his anger.  When he feels this coming on, he puts in a request to see a 

counselor.  He routinely has to wait several days before seeing a counselor after putting in a 

request, on one occasion waiting 13 days.  When he does see the counselor, the counselor just 

refers him to the psychiatrist for a reassessment of his medications.  It then sometimes takes 

weeks to see the psychiatrist.  During the period of waiting, PLAINTIFF BUSINELLE has to 

struggle to control the anger that a symptom of his mental illness and is highly dangerous in the 

prison setting. 

266. PLAINTIFF SANFORD is housed in the Bullock RTU.  At intake, PLAINTIFF 
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271. PLAINTIFF DUNN was placed into segregation in or around June 2013.  In or 

around August 2013, PLAINTIFF DUNN felt compelled to harm himself.  While still resisting 

this compulsion, he asked to see mental health staff, but was denied.  He cut his forearm with a 

razor that was provided to him for shaving.  His only contact with mental health staff was when 

someone came by his suicide watch cell on the third day after he cut himself to ask if he was 

suicidal.  He stated that he was not, and was returned segregation.  This process was repeated 

four more times during his nine-month stay in segregation, each time preceded by his request to 

see mental health.  He was never referred to mental health.  

272. Near the end of March 2014, PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS asked to see mental 

health.  She was told that she had to ask Ms. Nichols, the ADOC psychological associate at 

Fountain.  She spoke with Ms. Nichols and asked to be placed on the mental health caseload and 

expressed that she thought she needed psychiatric medication.  PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS has in 

the past been on the mental health caseload and has been prescribed psychiatric medications.  

She repeatedly cut herself earlier in the month and had been threatened with forced medication.  

Ms. Nichols told her that she did not need medication and did not need to be on the mental health 

caseload. 

273. In or around 2010, PLAINTIFF MONCRIEF had a mental health code of MH-3.  

He was taking Prozac and Trazadone.  He saw a psychiatrist occasionally, and he saw a nurse 

practitioner.  After about a year, his mental health code was reduced to MH-1 and he was taken 

off all medications.  He currently takes no medication.  He has asked for mental health treatment, 

but been denied. Without his medication and treatment, he has difficulty controlling his impulses 

and anger.  
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274. PLAINTIFF HARDY has a lengthy history of mental health issues and 
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278. On two occasions while in ADOC custody, PLAINTIFF SANFORD actually 

attempted suicide.  He was placed in suicide watch.
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282. At St. Clair, Holman and Tutwiler, there are no general mental health checks in 

the segregation units.   

283. In May 2012, PLAINTIFF HARDY who has a long history of serious mental 

illness, was taken off the mental health caseload and placed in segregation at St. Clair, where he 

has remained since.   

284. PLAINTIFF JACKSON, who has been diagnosed with schizophrenia and has 

auditory hallucinations, has been on the administrative transfer program between the segregation 

units at St. Clair, Holman, and Donaldson for seven years.   

285. PLAINTIFF CARTER, who has been diagnosed with schizophrenia and several 

other serious mental health disorders, has been in segregation continuously for last three years.  

He has been in either an RTU or segregation most of the time he has been in ADOC custody.  

286. PLAINTIFF WALLACE has been in either a RTU or segregation since 2010. 

287. PLAINTIFF TERRELL has been diagnosed with bi-polar disorder, schizophrenia, 

depression and PTSD.  He estimates that he has been placed in segregation four or five times.  

Each time, he suffers exacerbated symptoms, including increased auditory and visual 

hallucinations and increased nightmares.   

288. PLAINTIFF SANFORD has been diagnosed with bi-polar disorder, 
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290. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH distribute razor blades throughout 

their facilities for prisoners to shave.  They are distributed in the RTUs, mental health 

dormitories, segregation units and other housing units.  The razors are not collected or accounted 

for in any way.  

291. On January 21, 2011, a prisoner at Limestone committed suicide using a state-

issued razor blade.  The death and instrument used were both reported in an ADOC Incident 

Report. 

292. Prisoners who have a recent history of using razors to injure themselves are still 

provided with razors.   

293. PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS has a long history of self-harm with sharp objects.  She 

is nonetheless provided with razors for shaving, and the razors are left with her in her cell.  On or 

about March 2, 2014, PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS was housed in segregation at Fountain.  She cut 

herself with a razor.  After PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS cut herself, she called out to a correctional 

officer, who took her to the medical unit.  PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS’s wound was dressed but not 

cleaned.  She was placed in suicide watch until the following day.  She was then asked by mental 

health staff if she was suicidal.  Upon her negative response, she was returned to her segregation 

cell.  The razor she had used to cut herself the previous day was still in her cell.  She was not 

provided with any mental health counseling either while in suicide watch or while in segregation 
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complied, was handcuffed, and was taken to medical.  Her new wound was cleaned, stitched up 

and dressed, and she was placed in suicide watch.  In the suicide watch cell, she found a razor 

blade and again cut herself. She was taken to medical, the wound was cleaned and dressed and 

she was again returned to the suicide watch cell.  The razor blade had not been removed, and she 

again cut herself, and was taken to medical.  She told the correctional officers about the razor 

blade, but they said they believed she was cutting herself on the sharp edges of the air vents in 

the suicide watch cell.  Because the sharp edges of the air vent in the suicide watch cell are rusty, 

she was given a tetanus shot.  She was told she would be forcibly medicated if she cut herself 

again.  She said she would not, and was returned to the suicide watch cell – the cell that the 

correctional officers acknowledged knowing had a sharp, rusty air vent that could be used to cut 

oneself.  The following day, mental health staff asked if PLAINTIFF WILLIAMS was still 

suicidal, and upon her negative response, she was returned again to segregation.   

295. PLAINTIFF HARDY has attempted suicide numerous times, always using a 

razor.  On two occasions, at two different facilities, Fountain and Donaldson, PLAINTIFF 

HARDY attempted suicide using a razor and then was able to bring his razor into the suicide 

watch cell, where he again attempted to commit suicide.  PLAINTIFF HARDY continues to be 

provided with razors.  PLAINTIFF HARDY has no contact with mental health staff other than, 

when he is in suicide watch and mental health personnel come by to ask if he is still suicidal.   

296. PLAINTIFF DUNN was placed in segregation at St. Clair in or around June 2013.  

In August, he began to feel compelled to harm himself.  He requested mental health care, but was 

denied.  Nonetheless, he was provided with a razor blade for shaving.  He used the razor to cut 

his forearm.  PLAINTIFF DUNN was then taken to suicide watch.  He was not seen by any 

mental health professional for three days.  On his third day in suicide watch, a mental health 
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professional came to the suicide watch cell and asked if he was still suicidal.  PLAINTIFF 

DUNN stated that he was not and he was returned to segregation.  The razor blade he had used to 

cut himself was still in his cell.  There was no follow up from any mental health staff.  There 

were also no general rounds by mental health staff in the segregation unit.  PLAINTIFF DUNN 

remained in segregation until early April 2014.  The same scenario of PLAINTIFF DUNN 

asking for mental health care, being denied, cutting himself, going to suicide watch, receiving no 

care on suicide watch other than a check on the third day as to whether he remained suicidal, and 

then a return to the cell, where the razor remained, played out four more times during the months 

he was in segregation.  A lieutenant said to him after one act of self-harm, “you keep sitting there 

cutting yourself.  If you die, you die.”  On one occasion, his blood was still in his cell when he 

returned from suicide watch.  

297. PLAINTIFF PRUITT engaged in self-harm on June 12, 2014.  He had been in 

suicide watch multiple times over the last six months, but had been provided with a razor.  He 

was in segregation and he cut both his wrists with the razor.  He was eventually taken to medical 

and then a suicide watch cell.   

298. 
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300. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have a policy setting forth a 

proceeding to determine whether a person can be medicated against his or her will.  Prisoners 

cannot be medicated against their will unless they are determined to be seriously mentally ill and 

a danger to himself or herself or others.  The widespread and pervasive practice is that many 

prisoners in ADOC custody are denied due process in
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his medication.  He has never had a hearing to determine whether he should be permitted to 

refuse his medication.   

307. PLAINTIFF DILLARD has witnessed other prisoners refuse to take their 

medications.  Sometimes they are forcibly held down and given their medication, sometimes the 

threat of this is enough to cause them to accept the medication, and sometimes they are taken to 

segregation until they start taking the medication.   

308. PLAINTIFF TERRELL has sometimes refused his medications.  He has never, to 

his knowledge, been given a hearing to determine whether he can be involuntarily medicated.  

When he refuses the officers and nurses get angry with him.  On one occasion, PLAINTIFF 

TERRELL was written up because he refused his medication.  He had his privileges revoked for 

30 days.  He often sees other prisoners taken to segregation for refusing their medications.  He 

sees one officer routinely threaten to beat people if they refuse their medicen ,neRD haeRec
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was housed in Hamilton A & I from April 2012 until January 2013.  He was then moved to 

Limestone, where he stayed until May 2013, and then Ventress.  Initially, he was housed in 

Dormitory C at Ventress.  The dormitories in Ventress do not have grab bars in the showers, and 

Dormitory C does not have a shower chair to accommodate people with disabilities.  

PLAINTIFF SEARS fell in the shower a few weeks after his arrival, and injured his hip.  

PLAINTIFF SEARS obtained a profile to shower in the infirmary, where there is a shower chair, 

though no grab bars, in the shower.  The infirmary 
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of a small stainless steel cubicle with a plastic lawn chair in the middle and a hose that can be 

used for bathing. To make matters worse, a prisoner must step up about eight inches to enter the 

shower. It is extremely difficult, if not physically impossible, for a prisoner who cannot walk 

and/or has limited mobility to enter and use this shower independently. 
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DEFENDANT ADOC has housed prisoners who are in wheelchairs in the cells in the infirmary. 
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B. ADOC Has Not Made Reasonable Modifications In Po



96 

 

reprimanded for continuing to walk around the facility during lock-down because he couldn’t 

hear correctional officers’ orders. 

2. DEFENDANT ADOC discriminates against prisoners with disabilities by 



97 

 

328. 
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3. DEFENDANT ADOC has numerous housing policies that discriminate 
against prisoners with disabilities.   

 
331. DEFENDANT ADOC has housing policies and procedures that violate the rights 

of prisoners with disabilities.  Prisoners with disabilities are housed in restrictive and unduly 

dangerous housing units because of their disabilities. 

332. For example, at Kilby, prisoners who are blind and prisoners who are in 

wheelchairs are housed in Dormitory A, regardless of the security classification.  DEFENDANT 

ADOC describes this dormitory as “a dorm in the main hall near the infirmary where others who 

have disabilities or medical needs, yet are not in need of infirmary care, are placed.”  This is a 

dormitory that also houses violent offenders with high security classifications.  There is a great 

deal of violence that the blind and wheelchair-bound prisoners are subjected to solely because of 

their disabilities.  Further, due to the level of violence in the dormitory generally, the dormitory 

is often on lockdown.  The prisoners with disabilities are therefore deprived of recreation time 

and other privileges because of their disabilities.  Also, other than for the prisoners with 

disabilities, the dormitory is a “transit” dorm, for prisoners coming into ADOC custody and 

waiting for their assignment to another facility.  As a result, programming is not available for 

prisoners in Dormitory A.  Prisoners who are assigned to Dormitory A because of their 

disabilities are therefore excluded from programming because of their disabilities.   

333. PLAINTIFFS NAYLOR and MOORE are both blind and spent many months in 

Dormitory A because of their disability. Similarly, PLAINTIFF HAGOOD, who is confined to a 
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334. Also, male prisoners whose kidney function is so impaired they must have 
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a particularly dangerous problem for PLAINTIFF GILBERT, as he is diabetic and small wounds 

on a foot can easily become infected and lead to am
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requested that PLAINTIFF HAGOOD be provided with an assistant or transferred to a housing 

unit where help would be available, PLAINTIFF HAGOOD was told he would be transferred 

back to Dormitory A and was assigned an assistant in Dormitory A.  However, PLAINTIFF 

HAGOOD was not transferred back to Dormitory A, nor was he assigned an assistant in 

Dormitory B. 

340. Because he was in an inaccessible dormitory and did not have an assistant, from 

May 2, 2014 through May 23, 2014, PLAINTIFF HAGOOD had no yard time, because he 

cannot go outside from Dormitory B.  He had four or five showers during this period, because he 
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343. PLAINTIFF BROYLES’ right hearing aid began to malfunction in early 2014, 

creating audible feedback. As a result of the malfunction in the right hearing aid and the loss of 

the left hearing aid, BROYLES can hear only certain pitches and sounds and only if they are 

loud, clear, and in complete quiet.  Medical staff often delay in replacing the battery in the right 

hearing aid, sometimes for as long as three days.  The facility administration requires that he 

submit a sick call request for new batteries and pay the corresponding fee, and he often must 

make several such requests to get replacement batteries. 

344. ADOC officials have promised PLAINTIFF BROYLES that he will receive new 

hearing aids, but he has yet to receive one. 

345. PLAINTIFF PEARSON is deaf.  He has signed up for GED classes.  However, 

there is no one to provide sign language for him in the class.  He stayed with the class for two 

months, but ultimately dropped it because, without the reasonable accommodation of a sign 

language interpreter, he could not understand the material.  PLAINTIFF PEARSON has 

requested to go to trade school, but has been denied because he does not have a GED.  There is 

no sign language interpreter at Limestone.  The facility uses another prisoner to provide sign 

language interpretation, but he is not qualified and his signs are incomprehensible to PLAINTIFF 

PEARSON. 

346. PLAINTIFF TURNER is also deaf.  He has tried to go to GED classes and to 

church, but there are no staff members at Limestone who can communicate with him using sign 

language.  He was unable to follow the GED classes or the church services without a sign 

language interpreter.  
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D. DEFENDANT ADOC Excludes Prisoners With Disabilities From Programs, 
Benefits And Services. 

 
347. DEFENDANT ADOC has numerous policies that discriminate against prisoners 

with disabilities by excluding them from important programs, benefits and services. 

348. Prisoners with disabilities are excluded from work release programs due solely to 

their disabilities.  PLAINTIFF PEARSON was excluded from the Decatur Work Release Center 

and sent to Limestone because he is deaf.   

349. PLAINTIFF TURNER has high blood pressure, for which he takes medication.  

The medication controls his blood pressure well. He requested to go to work release, but was 

denied, being told: “you are deaf and you have high blood pressure.” 

350. PLAINTIFF DILLARD is housed in a dormitory in the main facility at Bullock 

that houses prisoners with less acute mental illness than those in Mental Health Unit.  He 

currently has the mental health code MH-1, the lowest level of mental health code a prisoner can 

have and still be on the mental health caseload.  About a year ago, PLAINTIFF DILLARD had a 

mental health code of MH-3 or MH-4.  He asked to become an outpatient, which he understands 

to require being an MH-1, because he will be up for parole in 2015 and cannot be paroled if he is 

still considered an inpatient.  PLAINTIFF DILLARD is foregoing mental health treatment 

because otherwise he will be excluded from the possibility of parole.  

351. PLAINTIFF MANER has a disabled leg as a result of a gunshot wound prior to 

coming into prison.  Prior to 2010, PLAINTIFF MANER had several profiles (accommodations 

from facility administration in consideration of his disability) that permitted him to: (1) wear 

shower shoes to prevent falls in the shower, (2) use a cane to assist in walking, (3) abstain from 
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approximately 16 months in Dormitory A.  Because th
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language interpreter.  PLAINTIFF TURNER was not able to understand much of the proceeding, 

and was unable to present his side of the story.  He received 15 days in segregation as a result. 

365. PLAINTIFF MOORE has asked for books on tape approximately 10 times, but 

has never been provided any.   

366. PLAINTIFF MOORE cannot go to sick call without filling out a sick call request 

form.  If PLAINTIFF MOORE needs to go to medical, he must ask another prisoner to write 

down his medical complaint on a sick call request form.  When PLAINTIFF MOORE goes to 

sick call or to visit the eye doctor, the doctors and nurses write down notes from the visit but do 
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370. PLAINTIFF DILLARD believes he reads at about a sixth grade level.  He 

attended school up until seventh grade.  He was in Special Education classes for all of his classes 
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373. A prisoner who is nearly entirely deaf was in his dormitory when a CERT team 

came in and ordered everyone to stand.  The deaf prisoner was turned away at the time and did 

not know of the order.  A member of the CERT team hit him on the back of the head for not 

standing up when ordered to do so.   

374. PLAINTIFF MOORE is provided with no assistance getting around the dormitory 

or the prison.  PLAINTIFF MOORE and other blind prisoners in Dormitory A assist each other, 

but are often mocked by the correctional officers and other prisoners.  The correctional officers 

call the prisoners who are blind names, such as “blind motherfucker.”  When he tries to move 

around the housing unit, prisoners routinely stand in his way.   

375. On one occasion, PLAINTIFF MOORE was sitting on his bunk.  Correctional 

officers came in and called out “count time.”  Ordinarily, at count, PLAINTIFF MOORE and 

other blind prisoners remain seated on their bunks, and PLAINTIFF MOORE did so on this 

occasion as well.  A correctional officer yelled to stand up.  PLAINTIFF MOORE did not know 

the correctional officer was yelling at him, until the correctional officer yelled “That goes for you 

too, blind motherfucker!”  PLAINTIFF MOORE asked th
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baton at PLAINTIFF BROYLES when PLAINTIFF BROYLES did not respond to the officer, 

because he did not hear him. 

377. Mentally ill prisoners in the RTU at Bullock are subjected to a great deal of 

physical violence.  PLAINTIFF MCCOY was brutally beaten by correctional officers while he 

was housed at the Bullock RTU.  PLAINTIFF BUSINELLE has four teeth knocked out by 

correctional officers in 2009.  Correctional officers broke PLAINTIFF TERRELL’s jaw and rib 

in one incident when PLAINTIFF TERRELL was in the midst of a psychotic episode, and beat 

his head with a baton on another occasion.  PLAINTIFF DILLARD was slammed to the ground 

by correctional officers when he refused his medications because he was having difficulty with 

the side effects.  Correctional officers knock over bunks in the mornings in the Bullock RTU if 

they think the prisoners are not getting up quickly enough in the morning, although many of the 

prisoners in the RTU take medications that cause them to sleep. 

V. DEFENDANTS RETALIATE AGAINST PRISONERS FOR EXERC ISING 
THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS. 

 
378. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH have established a policy or custom 

that permits ADOC employees and contractors to engage in retaliatory action against prisoners 

who exercise their first amendment rights to communicate with counsel and file complaints 

regarding conditions of confinement.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH act recklessly 
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379. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH retaliate against prisoners who 
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383. PLAINTIFF SEARS is housed at Ventress. Plaintiffs’ counsel and legal staff has 

met with PLAINTIFF SEARS several times since February 11, 2014. Officer Gwendolyn Pullom 

facilitates attorney visits at Ventress and is aware of each of PLAINTIFF SEARS’ visits with 

Plaintiffs’ counsel. As required throughout ADOC facilities, Plaintiffs’ counsel identified 

themselves to facility staff prior to each meeting with PLAINTIFF SEARS.  Officer Gwendolyn 

Pullom is married to Officer David Pullom.  

384. On June 20, 2014, three days after the filing of this lawsuit, PLAINTIFF SEARS 

was showering in the handicapped accessible shower in the infirmary of Ventress, as permitted 

by his medical profile.  PLAINTIFF SEARS suf.28308( )08(S)-5.07072( )-200.862(s)8.27264
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Dr. Stone refused this request and taunted PLAINTIFF HAGOOD, saying, “now go back there 

and tell your lawyer.” PLAINTIFF HAGOOD did not report any problems with his insulin 

medication prior to the change. 

387.
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390. On July 3, 2014, approximately two weeks after this lawsuit was filed, 

PLAINTIFF MORK was told by a correctional officer that his life and the lives of other 

plaintiffs were in danger.  DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH were informed by Counsel 

of this communication on the same day.  As of July 9, 2014, no one had come to speak with 

PLAINTIFF MORK to investigate this serious matter. 

391. On March 17, 2014, Plaintiffs’ counsel informed DEFENDANT THOMAS of 

PLAINTIFF SELLERS’s need for medical attention.  Shortly thereafter, he was moved from his 

dormitory to another dormitory in which he had enemies.  He informed ADOC correctional 

officers of the problem and refused to go.  The officers physically assaulted him and then moved 

him anyway.  He asked to speak with personnel from the Investigations & Intelligence Division 

(I & I) but was not allowed to do so.  After Plaintiffs’ Counsel contacted DEFENDANT 

THOMAS to request that PLAINTIFF SELLERS speak with
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Commonality: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2) 

403. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the Mental Health 

Subclass. Such questions include, but are not limited to:  

(a) whether the failure of DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH to operate a 
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and NAGLICH.  Finally, the named PLAINTIFFS are represented by counsel experienced in 

civil rights litigation, prisoners’ rights litigation, and complex class action litigation.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A) and (B) 

407. Because the number of Mental Health Subclass members is so large, the 

prosecution of separate actions by individuals would create a risk of inconsistent and varying 

adjudications, which in turn would establish incompatible standards of conduct for 

DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH. Additionally, the prosecution of separate actions by 

individual members could result in adjudications with respect to individual members that, as a 

practical matter, would substantially impair the ability of other members to protect their interests.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) 

408. This action is also maintainable as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(2) because DEFENDANTS’ policies, practices, actions, and omissions that form the basis 

of this complaint are common to and apply generally to all members of the class, and the 

injunctive and declaratory relief sought is appropriate and will apply to all members of the class. 

All state-wide health care policies are centrally promulgated, disseminated, and enforced from 

the central headquarters of ADOC by DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH.  Mental health 

care is provided pursuant to a single contract with a single medical provider with policies and 

practices that are centrally promulgated, disseminated, overseen and enforced by the mental 

health care providers’ statewide Management team and by DEFENDANTS THOMAS and 

NAGLICH.  The injunctive and declaratory relief sought is appropriate and will apply to all 

members of the Mental Health Subclass.  
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ADA Subclass 

409. PLAINTIFFS DUNN, BRAGGS, BROOKS, BROYLES, BUI, BUSINELLE, 

CARTER, COPELAND, DILLARD, GILBERT, HAGOOD, HARDY, HARTLEY, 

HENDERSON, JACKSON, JOHNSON, MANER, MCCOY, MITCHELL, MONCRIEF, 

MOORE, MOSELEY, NAYLOR, PEARSON, PRUITT, SANFORD, SEARS, TERRELL, 

TOOLEY, TORRES, TURNER, VILLAR, WALLACE, and WILLIAMS bring this action on 

their own behalf and, pursuant to Rules 23(a), 23(b)(1), and 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of 
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387. Due to the policies and practices of DEFENDANT ADOC, all ADOC prisoners 

with disabilities risk being discriminated against on the basis of their disabilities in accessing 

facilities, programs, benefits and services while in ADOC prisons. The ADA Subclass members 

are identifiable using records maintained in the ordinary course of business by the ADOC.  

Commonality: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(2) 

388. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the ADA 

Subclass. Such questions include, but are not limited to:  

(a) whether DEFENDANT ADOC has failed to make appropriate 

accommodations in the physical structure and infrastructure of the ADOC 

facilities in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act and § 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973;  

(b) whether DEFENDANT ADOC has failed to make appropriate 
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Adequacy: Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(4) 

391. The named PLAINTIFFS are capable of fairly and adequately protecting the 

interests of the ADA Subclass because the named PLAINTIFFS do not have any interests 

antagonistic to the subclass. The named PLAINTIFFS, as well as the ADA Subclass members, 

seek to enjoin the unlawful acts and omissions of DEFENDANTS THOMAS, NAGLICH, and 

ADOC.  Finally, the named PLAINTIFFS are represented by counsel experienced in civil rights 

litigation, prisoners’ rights litigation, and complex class action litigation.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A) and (B) 

392. Because the number of ADA Subclass members is so large, the prosecution of 

separate actions by individuals would create a risk of inconsistent and varying adjudications, 

which in turn would establish incompatible standards of conduct for DEFENDANT ADOC. 

Additionally, the prosecution of separate actions by individual members could result in 
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DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH.  The injunctive and declaratory relief sought is 

appropriate and will apply to all members of the Mental Health Subclass.  

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
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Second Cause Of Action: Inadequate Mental Health Treatment 
PLAINTIFFS DUNN, BRAGGS, BUI, BUSINELLE, CARTER, DILLIARD, HARDY, 
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their official capacities, and are the proximate cause of the PLAINTIFFS’ ongoing deprivation of 

rights secured by federal law. 

405. DEFENDANT ADOC has been and is aware of all the deprivations complained 

of herein, and has condoned or been deliberately indifferent to such conduct. 

Fifth Cause Of Action: Retaliation in Violation of Prisoners’ First Amendment Rights to 
Communicate with Counsel and to File Lawsuits Regarding Conditions of Confinement 

PLAINTIFFS DUNN, HAGOOD, SEARS v. DEFENDANTS THOMAS and NAGLICH in their 
official capacity 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983; First and Fourteenth Amendment) 
 

406. Plaintiffs reassert and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

Paragraphs 1-405 above. 

407. By their policies and practices described herein, DEFENDANT KIM THOMAS 

subjected PLAINTIFFS SEARS, DUNN and HAGOOD to retaliation for communicating with 

attorneys and filing a lawsuit regarding conditions of confinement, in violation of the First and  

Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.  

408. DEFENDANT THOMAS has been and is aware of the retaliatory actions 

complained of herein, and has condoned or been deliberately indifferent to such conduct.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

409. PLAINTIFFS and the classes they represent have no adequate remedy at law to 

redress the wrongs suffered as set forth in this complaint. PLAINTIFFS have suffered and will 

continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result of the unlawful acts, omissions, policies, and 

practices of DEFENDANTS THOMAS, NAGLICH, and ADOC, as alleged herein, unless 
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410. WHEREFORE, the named PLAINTIFFS and the class they represent request that 

this Court grant them the following relief:  

A. Declare that the suit is maintainable as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(1) and (2);  

B. Adjudge and declare that the acts, omissions, policies, and practices of 

DEFENDANTS THOMAS, NAGLICH, and ADOC, and their agents, employees, officials, and 

all persons acting in concert with them under color of state law or otherwise, described herein are 

in violation of the rights of prisoner PLAINTIFFS and the classes they represent under the Cruel 

and Unusual Punishment Clause of the Eighth Amendment, which grants constitutional 

protection to the PLAINTIFFS and the classes they represent;  

C. Preliminarily and permanently enjoin all DEFENDANTS, their agents, 

employees, officials, and all persons acting in concert with them under color of state law, from 

subjecting prisoner PLAINTIFFS and the PLAINTIFF Classes to the illegal and unconstitutional 

conditions, acts, omissions, policies, and practice
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2. Access: Policies and practices that provide timely access to health care;  
 
3. Screening: Policies and practices that reliably screen for medical, dental, and 

mental health conditions that need treatment;  
 
4. Emergency Response: Timely and competent responses to health care 

emergencies;  
 
5. Medication and Supplies: Timely prescription and distribution of medications and 

supplies necessary for medically adequate care;  
 

6. Chronic Care: Timely access to competent care for chronic diseases;  
 
7. Environmental Conditions: Basic sanitary conditions that do not promote the 

spread or exacerbation of diseases or infections, including but not limited to a 
smoke-free environment;  

 
8. Mental Health Treatment: Timely access to necessary treatment for serious mental 

illness, including medication, therapy, inpatient treatment, suicide prevention, and 
suicide watch;  

 
9. Quality Assurance: A regular assessment of health care staff, services, 

procedures, and activities designed to improve outcomes, and to identify and 
correct errors or systemic deficiencies;  

 
10. Accommodations: Appropriate accommodations for individuals with disabilities, 

as required by the Americans with Disabilities Act and §504 of the Rehabilitation 
Act of 1973. 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 25th day of July, 2014. 
 
  SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
 
  By: _/s/ Maria V. Morris________________                      
         Maria V. Morris 
 
  Maria V. Morris (Alabama Bar No. ASB-2198-R64M) 
  Ebony Howard (Alabama Bar No. ASB-7247-O76H) 
  SOUTHERN POVERY LAW CENTER 
  400 Washington Avenue 
  Montgomery, Alabama 36104 
  Telephone: (334) 956-8200 
  Facsimile:  (334) 956-8481 
  maria.morris@splcenter.org 
  ebony.howard@splcenter.org 
     
  Miriam Haskell* (Florida Bar No. 069033) 
  SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
   P.O. Box 370037 
  Miami, FL  33137 
  Telephone:  (786) 347-2056 
  Facsimile:  (786) 237-2949 
  miriam.haskell@splcenter.org 
 
 *admitted pro hac vice 

 
  William Van Der Pol, Jr. (ASB-2112-114F) 
   J. Patrick Hackney (ASB-6971-H51J) 

ALABAMA DISABILITIES ADVOCACY       
PROGRAM (ADAP) 
University of Alabama 
500 Martha Parham West 
Box 870395 
Tuscaloosa, Alabama  35487-0395 
Telephone:  (205) 348-6894 
Facsimile:  (205)  348-3909  
wvanderpoljr@adap.ua.edu 

  jphackney@adap.ua.edu 
 Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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